
From: Barry Appleton
To: "Cavinder Bull"; "Doak Bishop"; "Daniel Bethlehem QC"
Cc: "Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca"; Krystal.Girvan@international.gc.ca; david.kasdan@wwreporting.com; Diana Pyrikova;

Jose Luis Aragon Cardiel; Heather.Squires@international.gc.ca; Sylvie.Zidan@international.gc.ca; Ed Mullins; Tennant
Claimant; Anabel Blanco

Subject: Tennant Energy - Investor"s Response on the NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Revisions
Date: 06 December 2021 23:01:08
Attachments: 2021-11-23 - appleton to Tait - RE_ Tennant Energy v Canada - NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Corrections.pdf

2021-11-23 - Tait to Appleton - RE_ Tennant Energy v Canada - NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Corrections.pdf
Tennant - Investors Juris Transcript Rectification Summary Index.docx

Dear Mr. President and Members of the Tribunal

The Investor seeks directions from the Tribunal concerning the processing of the Transcript of the
Jurisdictional hearing.  The Tribunal is already in receipt of Canada's motion to the PCA Secretary. This brief
submission concerns the Transcript and the matters connected to Canada's submission.  Because of the need
for a transcript to complete the Post-Hearing Briefs, the Investor requests an expedited determination of this
matter.

At this point, each disputing party has provided rectifications to the Court Reporter. In addition, the disputing
parties have agreed upon a set of augmentations to the record – setting out additions to the certified record.

The Jurisdictional Hearing Transcript is certified.  This means that the Court Reporter reviews the record and
independently certifies any correction.  The purpose of rectifications is to rectify typographical or similar
errors and not change the Transcript. If the parties propose a change not supported by the audiotapes, the
Court Reporter cannot certify that change.

Canada already had its Thanksgiving Holiday in October. As the Tribunal is aware, the US Thanksgiving
holiday took place shortly after the November jurisdictional hearing. Ignoring the discussion of this holiday
issue at the Jurisdictional Hearing,  Canada demanded that the Investor work through the holiday to develop
a joint draft of the augmentations and a joint draft of the rectifications.

On November 23, the Investor wrote to Canada advising that its staff resources were limited due to the
holiday.  It said that it could work with Canada on a joint augmentation draft but that it did not have staff
available to develop a process to have a joint draft on rectification prior to the Tribunal deadline for
submitting the rectifications.  Since rectifications need to be certified by the Court Report, the Investor

advised that each side could supply its rectifications to the Court Reporter directly on December 3rd and that
the Court Reporter would then determine the appropriate rectifications. 

This arrangement would ensure that both the augmentations and the rectifications were provided by

December 3rd.  The focus was on the augmentations as additions to the record required the consent of the

disputing parties.  The rectifications would be provided by the December 3r deadline.  

Canada outright ignores the fact that Canada agreed to the Investor's proposed procedure on November 23,
2021. Canada omitted to disclose the agreed-upon solution, which was that Canada would follow the
Investor's process and that "To the extent the court reporter finds an inconsistency, then we will ask them to
reach out for clarification from the parties."  A copy of the correspondence underlying this arrangement is
attached. The Investor relied in good faith on Canada's communication, its further non-objection, and it
acquiesced to Canada's condition regarding what to do in the event of conflicting rectifications.

Based on the November 23rd agreement,  the disputing parties submitted augmentations and drafts
identifying rectification to the Court Reporter.  The Investor also submitted a short index identifying in one
document each proposed rectification and where it was located in the Transcript. ( A copy of the short
document index submitted by the Investor is enclosed).

After receiving this material containing the rectifications, the court reporter sought clarification.
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From: Barry Appleton
To: Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca
Cc: Heather.Squires@international.gc.ca; Krystal.Girvan@international.gc.ca; Sylvie.Zidan@international.gc.ca; Ed Mullins;


Tennant Claimant
Subject: RE: Tennant Energy v Canada - NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Corrections
Date: Tuesday, November 23, 2021 11:44:44 AM
Attachments: image001.png


Dear Mr. Tait:
 
We take note of your agreement with our proposal to exchange authority and exhibit augmentation on
December 1. Other than augmenting the transcript with authorities and exhibit references, there is a second
matter regarding notification of errors in the transcript.
 
The Court Reporter provided each disputing party to note any changes on the word version of the transcript
to facilitate the transcripts being checked by the Court Reporter.  The court reporter sets the final
determination of what was said in the hearing, who certifies the transcript after reviewing the audio
recording. We note that there is no requirement upon the disputing parties to agree on a process for
transcript review.  It simply would be easier.
 
Canada is well aware that the US Thanksgiving holiday is already en process. 
 
Canada’s unwieldy proposal of joint party agreement of potential transcript rectifications is impractical.  The
Investor has made it abundantly clear that it will not be able to provide advance transcript revisions
comments to Canada. 
 
Because of the impact of this week’s Thanksgiving holiday, the Investor will barely have sufficient time to
complete the transcript review on the deadline set by the Tribunal. If the parties are required to provide joint
agreement upon the changes to be subsequently confirmed by the Court Reporter, there would need to be
additional time added to the schedule in light of the Thanksgiving holiday.  The approach taken by the
Investor would not add any additional time to the schedule.  At most, it would add a minor inconvenience to
work done by David Kasdan’s very competent and efficient transcription team.
 
Canada has many lawyers on this file, and it appears not to be concerned about incurring unnecessary costs.
Indeed, an application to the Tribunal in these circumstances would be wasteful and unnecessary. 
Professional courtesy would generally govern such matters.  This is the issue that Canada needs to consider
seriously.
 
Further, what possible benefit could Canada obtain considering the Tribunal’s acknowledgment of the US
holiday and the unavailability of counsel during that period?
 
Please understand that Tennant Energy will make the Tribunal fully aware of these underlying concerns if
Canada recklessly decides to proceed further with its procedural issue.
 
On behalf of counsel for the Investor,
Barry Appleton
 
 


Barry Appleton, FCIArb, LL.M, JD
Managing Partner
Appleton & Associates International Lawyers LP
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Tel 416.966.8800 • Fax 416.966.8801
bappleton@appletonlaw.com • www.appletonlaw.com
121 Richmond St. W, Suite 304, Toronto, Ontario • M5R 2K1
 
Co-Director and Distinguished Senior Fellow, Adjunct Professor of Law 
New York Law School,  Center for International Law
185 W. Broadway, Rm 910. New York, NY 10013
Barry.appleton@nyls.edu


 
 
 
 


From: Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca <Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca> 
Sent: November 23, 2021 10:59 AM
To: Barry Appleton <bappleton@appletonlaw.com>
Cc: Heather.Squires@international.gc.ca; Krystal.Girvan@international.gc.ca;
Sylvie.Zidan@international.gc.ca; Ed Mullins <EMullins@reedsmith.com>; Tennant Claimant
<tennantclaimant@appletonlaw.com>
Subject: RE: Tennant Energy v Canada - NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Corrections
 
Dear Mr. Appleton,
 


Canada can agree to exchange document and authority augmentations on December 1st. With regards to the
exchange of transcript corrections, this process was proposed as a way to provide the court reporter with a
consolidated list of proposed corrections to be reviewed, and implemented if the court reporter makes that
determination. This process would be the most efficient way of proceeding for the court reporter, rather
than have to review two sets of proposed corrections with potential overlap from both disputing parties. This
is the same process that the disputing parties undertook with previous transcripts in this arbitration, and we
invite you to reconsider our proposal here. If the Claimant maintains its position, we will write to the Tribunal
to let it know the disputing parties are not able to agree on a process for proposed transcript corrections and
ask for their guidance on a path forward.
 
Best regards,
 
Benjamin Tait
(he / il)
Paralegal
Trade Law Bureau (JLTB)
Global Affairs Canada
Tel: (613) 294-2485


 


From: Barry Appleton <bappleton@appletonlaw.com> 
Sent: November 22, 2021 4:34 PM
To: Tait, Benjamin -JLTB <Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca>
Cc: Squires, Heather -JLTB <Heather.Squires@international.gc.ca>; Girvan, Krystal -JLTB
<Krystal.Girvan@international.gc.ca>; Zidan, Sylvie -JLTC <Sylvie.Zidan@international.gc.ca>; Ed Mullins
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<EMullins@reedsmith.com>; Tennant Claimant <tennantclaimant@appletonlaw.com>
Subject: Tennant Energy v Canada - NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Corrections
 
Dear Mr. Tait:
 
We received your email earlier today regarding transcript corrections.  We assume that this email also covers
the transcript augmentation requested by the Tribunal on Day 5 of the hearing. There are two different
issues here that are related to the Transcript:
 


a. Augmentation of the Transcript with the addition of missing document and authority references; and
b. Rectification of Transcript Errors


 
We understand from your email earlier today that Canada wants the parties to agree on transcript revisions. 
As discussed below, we agree that there should be an exchange regarding the augmentation of the
Transcript, but we do not agree to exchange concerning the rectification.
 


a. Augmentation of the Transcript with the addition of missing document and authority references
 
The Tribunal directed a second transcript process on Day 5.  The Tribunal wants the disputing parties to add
document and authority identification numbers in the Transcript for items referenced during the hearing.
 


b. Rectification of Transcript Errors
 
The court reporter does transcript revisions. The Court Reporter alone is responsible for the certification of
the final version.
 
Once each party sends revisions to the reporter, the reporter alone reviews the notes against the audio and
decides on the final transcript revision – which is then certified.
 
As a result, the other disputant does not have to comment on proposed transcript revisions.  Each side notes
issues of concern and usually proposes the correction. These suggestions are reviewed and subsequently
certified by the court reporter if the court reporter so agrees.
 
We see no utility in Canada’s proposal that the parties share the proposed rectifications.  Thus we do not
agree with the suggestion that either disputing party should share its proposed transcript changes to the
court reporter with the other side.  Transcript rectification is not a consent matter between counsel.
 
The only time we would expect to be consulted would be something fundamentally wrong (such as missing
testimony), a rare event that might require collaboration between the disputing parties.
 
Going Forward
 
The US Thanksgiving holiday is approaching this week.  Canada has proposed a response date in the middle
of the US holiday.  That is not practical.  Given that we are only reviewing document and authority
augmentations, exchanging drafts at 4 pm New York time on December 1, which is after Thanksgiving, would
seem practical.  This provides the disputing parties with two days to review the document augmentations.
 
Please let us know if you are amenable to this proposal
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On behalf of counsel for the Investor, Tennant Energy
 
 


Barry Appleton
Managing Partner
Appleton & Associates International Lawyers LP
Tel 416.966.8800 • Fax 416.966.8801
bappleton@appletonlaw.com • www.appletonlaw.com
121 Richmond St. W, Suite 304, Toronto, Ontario • M5K 2H1


 
 
 
 
 


From: Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca <Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca> 
Sent: November 22, 2021 10:58 AM
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
Subject: Tennant Energy v Canada - Transcript Corrections
 
Dear Mr. Appleton,
 
Following the Tribunal’s direction at the conclusion of the hearing, Canada writes to propose a process for


transcript corrections. Given the Tribunal’s deadline of December 3rd for submitting proposed corrections,


Canada would suggest that the disputing parties exchange proposed corrections on Friday, November 26th,
followed by an exchange of comments on the other party’s proposed corrections on Wednesday December


1st. This would leave the remaining two days to discuss any outstanding disputed corrections, prior to


submitting the agreed upon corrections and any remaining disputing corrections on Friday, December 3rd.
 
We look forward to hearing from you regarding this proposal.
 
Best regards,
 
Benjamin Tait
(he / il)
Paralegal
Trade Law Bureau (JLTB)
Global Affairs Canada
Tel: (613) 294-2485
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From: Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca
To: Barry Appleton
Cc: Heather.Squires@international.gc.ca; Krystal.Girvan@international.gc.ca; Sylvie.Zidan@international.gc.ca; Ed Mullins;


Tennant Claimant
Subject: RE: Tennant Energy v Canada - NAFTA Jurisdiction Hearing Transcript Corrections
Date: Wednesday, November 24, 2021 7:38:01 AM
Attachments: image001.png


Dear Mr. Appleton,
 
We continue to note your disagreement with Canada’s proposed approach and with the approach taken for
previous transcript corrections in this arbitration. Canada will proceed and make its proposed corrections to
the transcript and will send them to the court reporter directly, noting that the disputing parties have not
seen each others corrections. To the extent the court reporter finds an inconsistency, then we will ask them
to reach out for clarification from the parties.
 
Best regards,
 
Benjamin Tait
(he / il)
Paralegal
Trade Law Bureau (JLTB)
Global Affairs Canada
Tel: (613) 294-2485


 


From: Barry Appleton <bappleton@appletonlaw.com> 
Sent: November 23, 2021 11:45 AM
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
 



mailto:bappleton@appletonlaw.com

http://www.appletonlaw.com/

mailto:Barry.appleton@nyls.edu

mailto:Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca

mailto:Benjamin.Tait@international.gc.ca

mailto:bappleton@appletonlaw.com

mailto:Heather.Squires@international.gc.ca

mailto:Krystal.Girvan@international.gc.ca

mailto:Sylvie.Zidan@international.gc.ca

mailto:EMullins@reedsmith.com

mailto:tennantclaimant@appletonlaw.com





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
 


a)       Augmentation of the Transcript with the addition of missing document and authority references;
and


b)      Rectification of Transcript Errors
 
We understand from your email earlier today that Canada wants the parties to agree on transcript revisions. 
As discussed below, we agree that there should be an exchange regarding the augmentation of the
Transcript, but we do not agree to exchange concerning the rectification.
 


a)      Augmentation of the Transcript with the addition of missing document and authority references
 
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


 






Tennant – Investor’s Transcript Revisions

Rev: Nov 27, 2021

Day 1 Transcript

		 

		#

		Location

		Original

		Revision



		1

		Pg 165, line 7

		 268

		 C-268



		2

		Pg 165, line 9

		268

		C-268







Day 2 Transcript

		#

		Location

		Original

		Revision



		1

		Pg 205 Line 3

		 early

		 earlier



		2

		Pg 216 Line 4

		a

		an







Day 3 Transcript

		#

		Location

		Original

		Revision



		1

		Pg 414 Line 5

		answer

		answered



		2

		Pg. 427 Line  8

		lurch

		lunch



		3

		Pg 457 Line 12

		though

		thought



		4

		Pg 470 Line 13

		2020

		2010



		5

		Pg 471 Line 4

		2019

		2011



		6

		Pg 471 Line 17

		letter

		lender



		7

		Pg 472 Line 18

		pay

		take



		8

		Pg 472 Line 24

		256

		266







Day 4 Transcript

		#

		Location

		Original

		Revision



		1

		Pg 517 Line 16

		document

		documents



		2

		Pg 538 Line 2

		Fahring

		 Fahrney



		3

		Pg 538 Line 3

		F-A-H-R-I-N-G

		F-A-H-R-N-E-Y



		4

		Pg 540 Line 9

		I an holding

		I am holding



		5

		Pg 559 Line 13

		cited

		citing



		6

		Pg 561 Line 16

		effect

		affect



		7

		Pg 589 Line 17

		Huggins

		Higgins



		8

		Pg 590 Line 1

		“Cal-lapse”

		“Cal-App”



		9

		Pg 603 Line 1

		Mr. Lodise

		Ms. Lodise



		10

		Pg 608 Line 2

		trusts in states

		trusts and estates



		11

		Pg 608 Line 5

		trusts

		trust



		12

		Pg 609 Line 13

		irrevocable

		revocable



		13

		Pg 614 Line 18

		or

		on



		14

		Pg 614 Line 20

		must approved

		must be proved



		15

		Pg 618 Line 19

		approach in

		approaching



		16

		Pg 618 Line 20

		prove

		proof



		17

		Pg 618 Line 23

		asset

		assent



		18

		Pg 619 Line 21

		set

		assent



		19

		Pg 621 Line 23

		at

		and



		20

		Pg 624 Line 8

		do you

		you do



		21

		Pg 629 Line 6

		could done

		could be done



		22

		Pg 631 Line 19

		points

		point



		23

		Pg 639 Line 4

		it be proved

		it can be proved



		24

		Pg 668 Line 6

		tat

		at



		25

		Pg 668 Line 19

		falls

		fall







Day 5 Transcript

		#

		Location

		Original

		Revision



		1

		Pg 800  Line 21   

		Law of Commission

		Law Commission



		2

		Pg 803  Line 4

		a chosen action."

		“a chose in action”



		3

		Pg 803 Line 11  

		Commander Bull

		Arbitrator Bull



		4

		Pg 803 line 13  

		she say 	

		she says



		5

		Pg 803, Line 20   

		has Lodise

		Ms. Lodise



		6

		Pg 805, line 2

		transfer that doesn't

		[Please recheck – does not make sense]



		7

		Pg 816, line 16

		2000

		2015



		8

		Page 816, line 20

		tax here

		tax year



		9

		Pg 816, line 23 

		(Unclear)

		met



		10

		Pg 818, line 16

		were talking

		Were not talking



		11

		Pg 837, line 7

		Sadler

		de Sabla



		12

		Pg 840, line 2

		Meyer Second Partial 

		Myers Second Partial



		13

		Pg 840, line 15

		Dinao Myers

		Dana Myers



		14

		Pg 843, line 19

		primo, intra pares

		primo inter pares



		15

		Pg 844, line 12

		Dinao

		Dana



		16

		Pg 853, lines 6-7

		Canada had no obligation of non‑repetition of succession

		Canada had an obligation of non‑repetition and cessation



		17

		Pg 862. Line 13

		(unclear) reject it

		The ILC rejected it



		18

		Pg 862, line 16

		Professor Aggo

		Professor Ago



		19

		Pg 863, line 2

		1986 aqui

		1986 aquis



		20

		Pg 863, line 24

		Loizidu

		Loizidou



		21

		Pg 871, line 19 (twice)

		535 

		Slide 35



		22

		Pg 879, line 22

		thinks (unclear) going to be fair

		thinks its going to be fair



		23

		Pg 779 Line 9

		an

		a



		24

		Pg 795 Line 4

		set

		assent



		25

		Pg 795 Line 5

		(unclear)

		more recent authority



		26

		Pg 799 Line 15

		had say

		had to say



		27

		Pg 805 Line 6

		to

		too



		28

		Pg 808 Line 1

		slated

		stated
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Rather than communicating the practical agreement between disputing parties, paralegals for Canada, late
on Friday night, misleadingly advised there was no agreement between the disputing parties.

Much later that evening, the Investor provided a copy of the emails to the PCA – identifying the existence of
an agreement between the parties. As the record demonstrates, there clearly was an agreement, which
Canada augmented with an additional term regarding how to handle differences between the two different
versions

Astonishingly, Canada ignored the agreement on Friday, December 3rd, and again in its "clarification" of

Monday, December  6th. Yet again, Canada regrettably failed to act consistently with its duty of
forthrightness and diligence to the Tribunal.

The issue of Canada's conduct will be addressed in due course.

The Investor will not have available staff to review the changes for a considerable period (as previously
discussed, one of the lead counsel is in a 3-week trial and then has another full hearing in another investor-
state arbitration administered by the PCA, which I am also a part of). 

However, the Court Reporters have precisely what they need from the parties to rectify the Transcript
without any further delay.  The Court Reporters have:

An agreed draft from the disputing parties on augmentations,

Two different notes identify possible rectification errors subject to the Court Reporter's certification.

A process agreed to by the disputing parties in writing about what to do in the unlikely circumstance
that there is a direct conflict between the two sets of rectifications.

Canada has not followed the terms of the agreement, and this needlessly leaves the existing procedure in
disarray.

As a result of Canada's change of position, the Investor seeks the following order from the Tribunal:

1. The Court Reporters make augmentation changes as set out in the agreed draft

2. The Court Reporters review the proposed rectifications set out in the drafts and certify those changes
that the Court Reporters independently confirm.

3. The Court Reporter should provide the disputing parties with a report about any direct conflicts
between the rectifications sought by the disputing parties.

This proposal reflects the underlying original agreement. It is both practical and efficient in that it enables
the Court Reporters to produce a transcript so post-hearing briefs may proceed on time later this month.

Accordingly, the Investor requests that the Tribunal reflect the existing agreement of the disputing parties
and make the Investor’s requested order.

It is apparent at every hearing that Canada has many more lawyers and assistants available than the
Investor.  Canada attempts to take advantage of its superior financial resources at every turn. 

The Investor further opposes Canada's new proposal, which creates additional burdens for resolving
corrections while counsel is entrenched in preparing their post-hearing briefs.  Under Canada's proposal,
Canada would interrupt the Investor's preparation and attention to the post-hearing brief to deal with
corrections that are best resolved by the Court Reporters.  Perhaps more egregiously, Canada makes this
proposal while knowing that counsel for the Investor is currently in the midst of a 3-week trial.   It seems very
unlikely that the current Post Hearing Brief deadlines could be maintained if Canada’s request was granted.

I am the only counsel not involved in the current three-week trial. Still, I am receiving medical attention for a
severe neuro-spinal condition that worsened at the Jurisdictional Hearing. I currently am receiving treatment



six times a week over each of the following two weeks for the condition.  As the Tribunal can appreciate, it is
challenging to meet the current deadlines set for the Post-Hearing Brief in such circumstances where none of
the counsel for the Investor has further availability.   

Not only are Canada’s additional demands unfeasible – but they are completely unnecessary given that the
Court Reporters have all that they need to deal with the rectification and the consent document dealing with
the augmentation.

Canada's proposal is not workable with the current post-hearing brief deadline.  Canada’s making of this
request shows the lengths Canada will go to prevent the Investor from adequately presenting its case. 
Canada’s request should accordingly be denied, and the Tribunal should grant the request of the Investor –
which would give formal effect to the understanding already reached by the disputing parties (which is
confirmed in the email filed with this email).

On behalf of counsel for the Investor,

Barry Appleton, FCIArb, LL.M, JD
Managing Partner
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